EF-ZL-TO0S LIiSE DUDOE FAIRELS CRLIER TTR P.B1-82
[ NAC FORM 591M PART 1 U.S. NUCLEAR REGULATORY COMMISSION
112.200%)
10 CFR 2 201
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3. OOCKET NUMBER(S) 4. LICENSE NUMBER(S) 5. DATE(S) OF INSPECTION
030-12235 45-17128-01 April 27, 2005
LICENSEE:

The inspoction was an examination of tho activities conducted under your ficen3a s thoy relate 1o radiation saiety and to compliance whh tha
Nuclear Regulatory Commiasian (NRC) rutes and regulations and the conditions of your licanse. Tha inspection consisted of selective examratons
of procgdures and representative racords, interviews with personnsl. and obsarvations by the ingpector. The inspaction findings are as follows;:

1. Basad on the inspaction findings, no violations wero ldenufied.

I 2. Previous violatlon(s) closed.

3. The viclation(s), specifically degcribed to you by the inspector as non-cited violationg, are not being cited because they weare seit-
identitiod, non-repetitive. and corractive action was or is boing taken, and tha remaining criterla In the NRC Enforcernant Policy,
NUREG-1600, 1o axarcize discration, were satsfiad.

P

D Non-Citad Vlolation{s) was/were discussad Involving the following requirament(s) and Corrective Action(s):

4. During this Inspection certain of your activitigs, as dascribed below and/or anached, wers In violation of NAC requirements and ana
being cited. This form is a NOTICE OF VIOLATION, which may beé subjec! to posting in accordance with 10 CFR 19.11,

1. 10 CFR 35.2404 states, in part, that each licensee shall maintain a record of brachytherapy
surveys required by 35.404, which must Include survey results.

Contrary to the above, the licensee was not not maintalning a record of survey results.

2. 10 CFR 35.432 states, in part, that before the first medical use of a brachytherapy source on ar
after October 24, 2002, a licensee shall have determined source output using an appropriate
dosimetry system or accredited laboratory.

Contrary to the above, the licensee failed to perform calibration measurements on the Sr-90
brachytherapy source used for ophthaimic treatments. Treatments were performed on 12/16/02,
10/08/04, and 10/24/04 without the required calibration measurements.

Licensee’s Statement of Corrective Actions for item 4, abave.

| rereby s1ate that, within 30 days, the actions described by me to the-inspector wiii ba taken to carrect the violations identified. This statemen: of
carrective actions is mada in accordance with the requirements of 10 CFR 2.201 (corrective steps already taken, corrective steps which will be taken,
daro when full compliance will be achievad). | understand that no further written response 10 NRC wiil be required, uniess spacifically requestecl.
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